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OPINION

JUSTICE TODD DECIDED: MARCH 25, 2021

In this appeal by allowance, we consider whether, under the Adoption Act,! an
attorney may act as both guardian ad litem and legal counsel for a minor child, in the
context of a petition for termination of parental rights, where counsel did not expressly
inquire into the child’s preferred outcome of the termination proceedings. For the reasons
discussed below, we find that, in these unique circumstances, the attorney was able to
fulfill her professional duties and act in both roles. Thus, we affirm the order of the
Superior Court, which affirmed the termination of parental rights in this case.

Appellee T.G.H. (“Mother”) gave birth to P.G.F. (“Child”) in July 2012. Appellant
K.F. (“Father”) is child’s biological father. Mother and Father never married, and, when
Child was around two months old, Mother and Father ended their relationship, and Father

moved from their residence. Although Mother and Father later entered into a custody

123 Pa.C.S. §§ 2101-2901.



agreement in 2014, whereby Father was to have physical custody of Child every other
weekend, Father exercised his custody rights for only six to eight months, when Child
was approximately three years old. Instead, Father's mother, D.H. (“Paternal
Grandmother”), exercised Father’s rights to partial custody.

In October 2017, Mother married E.N.H. (“Step Father”), and, on February 27,
2018, when Child was five years old, they filed a petition seeking to involuntarily terminate
Father’s parental rights in order to allow Step Father to adopt Child. The orphans’ court
appointed Appellee Carol Ann Rose, Esq. (“Attorney Rose”) as Child’s guardian ad litem
and legal counsel. The court held hearings on the petition on July 31, 2018, and
September 11, 2018, during which Mother, Step Father, Paternal Grandmother, and
Father testified. Relevantly, although Attorney Rose cross-examined the witnesses
during the hearings and argued that termination was in Child’s best interest, she never
expressly asked Child his preferred outcome in the termination proceeding. Ultimately,
the orphans’ court terminated Father’s parental rights pursuant to 23 Pa.C.S. § 2511(a)(1)

and (b) of the Adoption Act,? and Father appealed to the Superior Court.

2 Sections 2511(a) and (b) of the Adoption Act provide, in relevant part:

(a) General rule.--The rights of a parent in regard to a child
may be terminated after a petition filed on any of the following
grounds:

(1) The parent by conduct continuing for a period of at least
six months immediately preceding the filing of the petition
either has evidenced a settled purpose of relinquishing
parental claim to a child or has refused or failed to perform
parental duties.

* % %

(b) Other considerations.--The court in terminating the rights
of a parent shall give primary consideration to the
developmental, physical and emotional needs and welfare of
the child. The rights of a parent shall not be terminated solely
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The Superior Court, before addressing the merits of Father’s challenge, sua sponte
examined the representation provided by Attorney Rose, and determined that it was
insufficient pursuant to this Court’s decision in In re: T.S., 192 A.3d 1080 (Pa. 2018)
(holding that a guardian ad litem may also serve as a child’s legal counsel only when
there is no conflict between the child’s legal and best interests).® Specifically, the court
explained that it could not ascertain whether Child’s legal and best interests were aligned
because Attorney Rose never articulated Child’s legal interests, nor did she suggest that
Child — who was six years old at the time of the hearing — was unable to express his
preferred outcome. Accordingly, the Superior Court vacated the orphans’ court’s order
and remanded, instructing the orphans’ court to re-appoint legal counsel for Child and for
counsel to attempt to ascertain Child’s preferred outcome in the proceedings. The
Superior Court further directed that, if Child’s legal and best interests were consistent, the
orphans’ court was to re-enter its termination order; otherwise, the orphans’ court was to
conduct a new termination hearing to provide Child’s legal counsel the opportunity to
advocate on behalf of Child’s legal interest. Inre: P.G.F., 2019 WL 1199986 (Pa. Super.
filed Mar. 13, 2019).

on the basis of environmental factors such as inadequate
housing, furnishings, income, clothing and medical care if
found to be beyond the control of the parent. With respect to
any petition filed pursuant to subsection (a)(1), (6) or (8), the
court shall not consider any efforts by the parent to remedy
the conditions described therein which are first initiated
subsequent to the giving of notice of the filing of the petition.

Id. § 2511.

3 Before the Superior Court, neither party challenged whether an appellate court may sua
sponte review whether counsel adequately represented a child’s legal interest during an
involuntary termination of parental rights hearing. See In re: Adoption of K.M.G., 240
A.3d 1218 (Pa. 2020), discussed infra.
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On remand, the orphans’ court held a hearing on August 7, 2019, during which
Attorney Rose noted that she consulted with Child, and that Child indicated that his
preferred outcome was to remain with Mother and Step Father. According to Attorney
Rose, through a report provided to the court dated June 11, 2019 (“Counsel Report”),
Child identified Step Father as his father, and did not call anyone else “dad” or “daddy.”
Counsel Report; N.T. 8/7/2019 at 5. Furthermore, Child became upset when told about
the prospect of not living with Mother and Step Father. Attorney Rose also noted that
Child did not appear to recall spending any time with Father, and when asked if Child
knew anyone by Father’'s name, he recalled only a classmate with the same name.

In light of the foregoing, the orphans’ court reinstated its order terminating Father’s
parental rights. Rather than issuing a written opinion, the court incorporated by reference
the transcript from its hearing on remand. Therein, the court stated that it did not see any
conflict between Child’s legal and best interests, concluding that Child’s preferred
outcome was for Step Father to fill the parental role. Thus, the court reentered its
September 2018 order terminating Father’s parental rights. Father again appealed to the
Superior Court, asserting, inter alia, that the orphans’ court erred in finding no conflict
between Child’s legal and best interests.

On appeal, a divided Superior Court affirmed in an unpublished memorandum
opinion. Inre: P.G.F., 2020 WL 579038 (Pa. Super. filed Jan. 27, 2020). Writing for the
majority, Judge Dan Pellegrini found, inter alia, that, based upon the facts outlined above,
the record supported the orphans’ court’s determination that Child’s legal and best
interests did not conflict. Thus, the Superior Court concluded that the orphans’ court did
not err in declining to appoint separate counsel to represent Child’s legal interests. With
respect to the fact that Child did not know that Father was his biological father and was

not informed of the meaning of the termination proceedings, the court determined that, in
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such “unique circumstances,” legal counsel properly declined to explain these underlying
circumstances, based upon Child’s age, mental state, and emotional condition,
particularly where Child had already bonded with Step Father; thus, counsel properly
discharged her duties. Id. at *4 n.3.

Judge Mary Jane Bowes dissented, opining that, in her view, Attorney Rose’s
inquiry into Child’s preferred outcome was insufficient. Specifically, Judge Bowes took
issue with the fact that Attorney Rose attempted to discern Child’s preference based upon
his various relationships and interactions with Mother, Step Father, and Paternal
Grandmother, rather than explicitly asking Child his preference as to the outcome of the
termination proceedings. Judge Bowes also disagreed with the majority’s reliance on
Child’s preference to continue in Mother’s physical custody as grounds to infer a preferred
outcome of the termination proceeding. Judge Bowes did not view these considerations
as relevant in determining Child’s legal interest, noting that the question was not whether
Child preferred to remain in the same household as Mother and Step Father, but whether
he preferred that Father's parental rights be severed. In Judge Bowes’ view, when
ascertaining Child’s preferred outcome, Attorney Rose should have presented Child with
all relevant facts — including that the person known to him as Paternal Grandmother’s
“friend” was actually his biological father — and informed Child that Father’s parental rights
would need to be terminated for Step Father to complete the adoption. Indeed, according
to the dissent, it was Attorney Rose’s principal obligation to ascertain Child’s legal interest
and to advance that interest, and by her lack of questioning, she failed to eliminate the
potential for a conflict between Child’s legal interest and best interests.

We granted allocatur on the single issue of whether an attorney could act as both

guardian ad litem and legal counsel for a minor child, where legal counsel failed to
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expressly inquire into the child’s preferred outcome of a termination proceeding. In re:
P.G.F., 230 A.3d 1009 (Pa. 2020) (order).*

Father first argues that the failure to fully inform Child and inquire into his
preferences stripped Child of his right to counsel and violated Child’s right to due process.
Specifically, Father offers that Attorney Rose failed to inform Child that termination
proceedings were taking place. Related thereto, Father maintains that Child’s opportunity
to be heard was compromised, as he was never asked the explicit question of whether
he wished for Father’s paternal rights to be terminated, and, thus, did not receive all of
the necessary information to convey a preference. Father rejects Attorney Rose’s
rationale for not asking this precise question and her reliance upon Child indicating that
he was concerned that he would be removed from Mother's household. According to
Father, the relevant question is not whether Child desired to remain in Mother's
household, but whether he preferred that Father's parental rights be severed. As this
guestion was never asked, Father submits that it was never determined whether there
was a conflict between counsel’s role as guardian ad litem and legal counsel; rather,
Father contends it was erroneously assumed there was no conflict, and that separate
counsel was putatively not necessary. Father argues that, while a guardian ad litem may

serve as legal counsel where there is no conflict between the child’s legal and best

4 The question of whether there exists a conflict between legal counsel and a guardian
ad litem is a mixed question of fact and law, subject to review for an abuse of discretion.
This standard requires the reviewing court to accept the findings of fact and credibility
determinations of the orphans’ court if they are supported by the record. In re: Adoption
of S.P., 47 A.3d 817, 826 (Pa. 2012). As to the ultimate determination, the appellate court
reviews the matter to determine if the orphans’ court made an error of law or abused its
discretion. A decision may be reversed for an abuse of discretion only upon a showing
of unreasonableness, partiality, prejudice, bias, or ill-will. Id. A reviewing court, however,
should not reverse an orphans’ court’s determination merely because the record would
support a different result. Id. at 827. Our Court has emphasized our deference to an
orphans’ court’s first-hand observations of the parties with whom they have engaged for
multiple hearings. Inre: T.S.M., 71 A.3d 251, 267 (Pa. 2013).
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interests, here, because counsel did not ask Child his preferred outcome, he essentially
had no legal counsel. Father concedes that Attorney Rose did not identify him as Child’'s
biological father because she did not want Child to think that something would happen
between his Mother and Step Father, or that he would lose Step Father, who Child
believed was his father; nevertheless, Father presses that he should have been identified
as Child’s biological father and that Child should have been asked his preferred outcome
of the termination proceeding. According to Father, this is especially true because Father
claims that Mother prevented regular contact with Paternal Grandmother. While
acknowledging that revealing that he was Child’s biological father could cause Child
emotional distress, Father asserts that it is the duty of an attorney to give their client
unpleasant but pertinent information. Ultimately, Father stresses that, even though it may
trigger negative recollections, Attorney Rose was mandated to inform Child that Father
was his biological father, and then was required to determine Child’s preference as to the
termination of Father’s parental rights.®

Appellee Mother responds that the orphans’ court properly determined that Father
withdrew from Child’s life and failed to develop the parent-child relationship, that the
Child’s legal interests and best interests were not in conflict, and, as a result, that it was
not error to allow a single court-appointed attorney to serve as both guardian ad litem and
legal counsel. Mother points to In re: Adoption of C.J.A., 204 A.3d 497 (Pa. Super. 2019),

as instructive. In that case, a five-year-old child did not know that the individual

5 The Juvenile Law Center, Community Legal Services, Inc., and 16 national, state, and
local organizations and individuals have jointly filed an amici curiae brief in support of
Appellant. Amici emphasize that a preferred outcome with regard to a termination petition
is distinct from determining custody or with whom a child wishes to reside. Here,
according to amici, Attorney Rose failed to ascertain whether Child had a preferred
outcome regarding the termination petition and failed to inform Child of the circumstances
surrounding that petition — that Father was Child’s biological father. Such failures,
according to amici, deprived Child of a voice in the permanent decisions regarding his
relationship with Father.
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challenging the termination petition was his biological father, and, because of the potential
confusion and trauma to the child in explaining that his father existed, legal counsel was
unable to fully explain to the child the nature of the termination proceedings.

Mother notes that, in In re: C.J.A., as in the matter sub judice, the court
nevertheless determined that counsel had satisfactorily discharged her duties and
complied with the minimum requirements of the Adoption Act. Id. at 501-02. Related
thereto, Mother takes issue with Judge Bowes’ dissenting suggestion that legal counsel
must, at a minimum, explain the termination proceedings, identify Father as Child’'s
biological father, and ask if Child had a preferred outcome. Mother counters that where,
as here, a child is unaware of the identity of his biological father, due in many respects to
the conduct of the biological father himself, and where the child believes that another
individual who has provided the love, comfort, and stability of a parent is the father, court-
appointed counsel has fulfilled her duties, even without an explanation of the proceedings
or the identification of the biological father. Mother claims that to require such
identification would unnecessarily upset a child’s understanding of the family order and
risk potential emotional and mental upheaval.

Attorney Rose, as guardian ad litem and legal counsel, offers that, based upon her
interview of Child to ascertain his preferred outcome of the case, Child believed that Step
Father was his father and wanted to continue to live with Step Father and Mother.
Attorney Rose stresses that, when she asked Child about Father, Child had no knowledge
of him. Additionally, Attorney Rose notes that Child had no memory of calling anyone
other than Step Father “dad” or “daddy.” Attorney Rose Brief at 7-8. Based upon these
circumstances, Attorney Rose asserts that she chose not to inform Child that Father was
his biological father or to explain to Child why Father was not in his life, because it would

have caused confusion and undue emotional trauma. Attorney Rose emphasizes that

[J-91-2020] - 8



Child was not of the age or developmental stage where he could have processed the
information and made a decision about whether he wanted the parental rights of someone
he did not know terminated. Attorney Rose adds that, when cross-examined at the
hearing, Father admitted that Child did not know him, did not know him as his father, and
that that had been true for at least two years prior to the hearing. Moreover, Attorney
Rose contends that, when the purpose of the hearing was explained, Child became
concerned about what would happen to him, expressed that he wanted to live with Mother,
and was worried that he would not be able to live with Mother, Step Father, and his baby
brother. In these circumstances, Attorney Rose argues no conflict existed and Child
articulated his preferred outcome to be adopted.®

The termination of parental rights is a grave matter with far reaching consequences
for the parents and the child. For this reason, our General Assembly has mandated that
children be given a voice in termination proceedings. Accordingly, the Adoption Act
requires that all children receive counsel in contested involuntary parental termination

proceedings. Specifically, the Adoption Act provides in relevant part that:

The court shall appoint counsel to represent the child in an
involuntary termination proceeding when the proceeding is

6 Amici KidsVoice, Defender Association of Philadelphia, Montgomery Child Advocacy
Project, and Professor Lucy Johnston-Walsh and other professionals filed a brief in
support of Child. Amici urge that the disclosure of Father’s identity would have a
significant and lasting effect on Child, and such disclosure should not come from Child’s
counsel. Amici believe Attorney Rose properly declined to inform Child about Father’'s
identity, given Child’s age and developmental capacity, and the likelihood that such a
revelation would lead to confusion, anxiety, and trauma, but would not lead to a more
meaningful decision by Child. Indeed, amici stress that young children are not “mini-
adults” who are capable of understanding complex ideas and making meaningful
decisions based upon such information. Amici KidsVoice et al. Brief at 13. Finally, amici
offer that, if disclosure of a father’s identity is required in these situations, it should only
be after a clinical evaluation of the child to determine if disclosure is appropriate given the
child’s development and emotional capacity; further, any disclosure should be
accomplished over a period of time, and guided by a clinician, a close family member, or
some other person whom the child trusts.
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being contested by one or both of the parents. The court may
appoint counsel or a guardian ad litem to represent any child
who has not reached the age of 18 years and is subject to any
other proceeding under this part whenever it is in the best
interests of the child. No attorney or law firm shall represent
both the child and the adopting parent or parents.

23 Pa.C.S. 8§ 2313(a); see In re: Adoption of L.B.M., 161 A.3d 172, 180 (Pa. 2017)
(“IW]hen a child’s relationship with his or her birth family could be severed permanently
and against the wishes of the parents, the legislature made the policy judgment, as is
evidenced from the plain, unambiguous language of the statute, that a lawyer who
represents the child’s legal interests, and who is directed by the child, is a necessity.”).
As our Court has explained, a child's legal interests are distinct from his best interests. In
re: Adoption of L.B.M., 161 A.3d at 174. Representing the child's “[lJegal interests’
denotes that an attorney is to express the child’s wishes to the court regardless of whether
the attorney agrees with the child’s recommendation,” while a guardian ad litem discerns
the child’s best interests; in each case, these interests are ultimately determined by the
orphans’ court. In re: Adoption of K.M.G., 240 A.3d at 1243 n.20 (quoting Inre: T.S., 192
A.3d at 1082 n.2 (quoting Pa.R.J.C.P. 1154, cmt.)); see also In re: Adoption of L.B.M.,
161 A.3d at 174 n.2. Given the importance, and indeed, the statutory mandate, of having
an individual dedicated to discerning and advocating for the child’s legal interests, it is
only when a child’s best interests and legal interests do not diverge, or where the child’s
legal interests cannot be ascertained, that a court-appointed attorney may serve in the
dual capacity of guardian ad litem and legal counsel; however, when there exists a conflict
between a child’s best interests and the child's legal interests, these interests must be
represented by separate individuals. In re: Adoption of K.M.G., supra.

While not directly controlling this appeal, our recent decision in In re: Adoption of
K.M.G. is instructive. Therein, in the majority opinion authored by Justice Baer, we

synthesized a number of recent decisions in this area. While recognizing that the Court
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had previously been divided over the exact contours of Section 2313’s right to counsel,
we first reiterated that orphans’ courts are obligated by Section 2313(a) to appoint counsel
to serve the critical role of a child’s attorney, zealously advocating for the legal interests
of the child who otherwise would be denied a voice in the termination proceedings, and
that when a child's legal interests conflict with the child's best interests, those interests
must be represented by separate individuals to ensure that the child's legal interests are
presented to the orphans’ court. We then turned to three discrete questions regarding
appellate review of counsel's representation of a child in involuntary termination
proceedings. First, we considered whether an appellate court had the authority to review,
sua sponte, whether a child's legal interest was properly represented by counsel under
Section 2313(a). We reasoned that, as children do not have the ability or opportunity to
challenge a denial of their right to counsel, and given the importance and permanency of
termination proceedings, as well as children's inability to navigate the termination process
themselves, an appellate court should engage in sua sponte review to determine if the
orphans’ court has appointed counsel to represent the child in compliance with Section
2313(a). In addition, where the orphans’ court has appointed a single attorney to serve
as guardian ad litem and legal counsel to represent both the child’s best interests and
legal interests, we concluded an appellate court should review sua sponte whether the
court made a determination that those interests did not conflict.

Importantly, however, we cautioned that “appellate review of this question does
not involve second-guessing whether [the guardian ad litem or legal counsel] in fact had
a conflict . . . but solely whether the orphans’ court made the determination in the first
instance.” In re: Adoption of K.M.G., 240 A.3d at 1235-36. This latter assessment allows

for yes or no answers, “binary, record-based determinations”:

Specifically, we grant sua sponte review to evaluate (1)
whether the orphans’ court appointed counsel to represent the
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legal interests of the children and (2) if the appointed counsel
also serves as [guardian ad litem], whether the orphans’ court
determined that the child's best interests and legal interests
did not conflict. Both inquiries involve a yes or no answer that
can be addressed by a review of the orphans’ court order (or
lack thereof) appointing counsel to represent a child under
Section 2313(a). We conclude that this limited review strikes
an appropriate balance between protecting children who
cannot assert their own right to counsel, while insuring the
least disruption to ‘the process of orderly judicial decision
making’ in termination proceedings.

Id. at 1236.

We contrasted these permissible sua sponte appellate inquiries with sua sponte
review of whether the record demonstrates there was no conflict. We explained that such
review was not a binary inquiry, but necessitated that appellate courts delve into a fact-
specific assessment of whether and to what extent a child’s preferred outcome conflicts
with the guardian ad litem’s view of the child’s best interests. We characterized this
determination as nuanced, noting that “the attorney's view of the child’s best interests and
the child’s preferred outcome likely lie, somewhat nebulously, on a continuum between
strongly favoring termination and strongly disfavoring termination. It is not for an appellate
court to determine how closely the interests must align or overlap to negate the existence
of a conflict.” Id. at 1236. Critically, we expressed great reluctance in allowing appellate
courts to “reweigh an orphans’ court’s determination that the interests do not conflict,
where the orphans’ court has witnessed the parties over the course of the dependency
and termination proceedings and is presumably aware of the relationship formed between
the [guardian ad litem] and the children.” Id. (citing Inre: T.S.M., 71 A.3d at 267 (deferring
to “trial courts that often have first-hand observations of the parties spanning multiple
hearings” in termination of parental rights proceedings)).

Finally, our Court rejected any assumption that the absence of a child’s preference

stated on the record equated to counsel's failure to ascertain the child’s preferred
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outcome or to provide effective representation of the child. Importantly for present
purposes, we determined that the child’s preference need not be placed on the record,
due to the lack of such a mandate in the Adoption Act, concerns of violating the attorney-
client privilege, and the specter of placing emotional stress on the child by making his or
her feelings public. 1d. Instead, we left the decision of whether to place the child’s
preference on the record to the professional judgment of child’s counsel, as well as to the
discretion of the orphans’ court, noting that the latter often witnessed the child, relevant
family members, and other stakeholders through months of hearings. Id. at *13.
Accordingly, while In re: Adoption of K.M.G. addressed an appellate court’s sua
sponte review of an orphans’ court’s conflict determination, and, thus, is not dispositive
herein, we glean significant considerations from that decision informing our analysis of
both an attorney’s duty to discern a child’s preferred outcome in a termination proceeding,
and the court’s ultimate determination of whether a conflict exists. Generally, an attorney
acting as a child’s legal counsel must, at a minimum, attempt to ascertain the child’s
preference and advocate on the child’s behalf. Admittedly, that inquiry may be no simple
task.” First, discerning a child’s preference will necessarily be a fact-intensive and
nuanced process, based upon an attorney’s observations and interactions with the child.
Moreover, minors, as a class of individuals, fall within a wide range of ages, maturity
levels, and emotional capacity that all factor into a child’s ability to express a preference.
As a result, ascertaining a child’s preferred outcome may involve various circumstance-
appropriate strategies. At one end of the spectrum, an attorney may represent an older,
mature child who understands precisely what a termination proceeding entails and may

articulate in clear, even binary, terms his preference for the outcome of the proceedings.

"In certain instances, an attorney may need the assistance of a professional to determine
the best approach in determining a child’s preferences. However, we do not believe this
was one of those cases.
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By contrast, an attorney may represent a very young, less mature, child, who is unable to
express any understanding of the proceedings or articulate a preference as to their
outcome.

Yet, in the middle of this range may be a child who understands to some degree
what is at stake in the proceedings, and who is capable of expressing some preference,
but who is unable to do so in a fully informed and articulate fashion. In these instances,
an attorney must make reasonable, but at the same time prudent, efforts to discern the
child’s desires. And, not only age and maturity may inform the analysis. There may be
circumstances surrounding a termination proceeding that hamper determining a child’s
clear preference. This case provides a good example. Where, as here, the child is
unaware of certain sensitive facts and could be emotionally harmed if informed of such
facts or closely interrogated regarding his preference, we believe caution and reflection
is not only acceptable, but required. We will not mandate that an attorney convey highly
sensitive, significant, and potentially emotionally damaging information to a child, or
engage in a raw inquiry, merely to discern the clearest indication of a child’s preference.
This would be unfair to the child and the attorney. Attorneys are not child therapists or
child psychologists. While an attorney must ascertain his client’s legal interest and
advocate for it, in the context of a minor client, we believe modulation is necessary, and
achieving a definitive understanding of the child’s preference may simply be too disruptive
and hurtful. Thus, we conclude significant deference must be accorded to counsel’s
approach in discerning a child’s preferences and the child’s articulation thereof. Cf. Inre:
Adoption of K.M.G., 240 A.3d at 1236 (characterizing determination as nuanced and
nebulous). Accordingly, and significantly, we deem concern for a child’s physical, mental,

and emotional well-being to be a valid consideration when counsel attempts to discern
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the child’s preference. Cf. id. 1238 (embracing consideration of “unconscionable stress”
being placed on child).®

Related thereto, once a child’s preference has been articulated, or it is determined
that the child cannot articulate a preference, the orphans’ court must determine whether
counsel has fulfilled his obligations to discern a child’s preferred outcome, whether a
conflict with the child’s best interest exists, and whether counsel can serve as both legal
counsel and guardian ad litem. Again, in doing so, the orphans’ court should give due
consideration to counsel’s approach, findings, and conclusions regarding whether a
conflict exists, as counsel has interviewed the child first hand, and has assessed the
child’s age, maturity, understanding, mental state, and emotional capacity (perhaps with,
as noted above, the assistance of a professional in certain situations). In turn, an
appellate court should give substantial deference to the orphans’ court’s determination
regarding whether the interests of legal counsel and guardian ad litem conflict, especially
where the court has withessed the parties during numerous proceedings. Cf. id.

We find the Superior Court’s decision in In re: Adoption of C.J.A., 204 A.3d 497
(Pa. Super. 2019), to be consistent with this approach. In that case, an attorney
represented a child solely as legal counsel in involuntary parental termination
proceedings. The attorney explained that the child, who was five years old, did not
remember his father, whom he had not seen for two years, and that the child believed his

mother’s fiancé was his biological parent. The attorney averred that the child would have

8 Amici KidsVoice et al. maintain that a six-year-old child is “not developmentally capable
of comprehending and processing abstract and complex ideas and concepts, such as
biological father versus step-father and termination of parental rights and adoption, nor is
a child this age capable of making meaningful decisions involving these concepts.” Amici
KidsVoice et al. Brief at 13-14. Indeed, amici suggest children up to the age of 10 have
a reduced capacity for such comprehension and processing. Id. at 15. While this
threshold may provide a useful rule of thumb, we need not adopt such a bright line in this
case.
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nothing to say about the father, because the child did not know that he was the child’s
biological father. In her brief to the court, the attorney offered that, “due to the age and
maturity of [the child] along with the fact that he did not know [father] was his biological
father, the undersigned, as legal counsel, was unable to explain the termination of
parental rights proceeding and/or discuss the potential adoption by [the fiancé].” Id. at
502. The attorney continued, “[h]Jowever, the undersigned was able to view the
relationship between [child] and [fiancé] and it was clear that the two had a strong bond
particularly because [child] identified [fianc€] as his biological father and had never been
told otherwise.” 1d. The Superior Court opined that, under the unique circumstances
presented, the attorney’s representation of the child complied with the requirements of
Section 2313(a), stressing that the child was just over six years old, did not realize that
the biological father existed, and that disclosing such information could have been
confusing and traumatic to the child. Thus, the court concluded that counsel’s judgment
in this regard was reasonable, and that she discharged her duty as the child’s counsel to
the best of her ability, based on the child’s age, mental condition, and emotional condition.
Id. at 502; see also In re: Adoption of J.K.M., 2019 WL 1595680 (Pa. Super. filed Apr. 15,
2019) (finding that attorney serving as legal counsel and guardian ad litem of four-and-
one-half-year-old child who did not remember father and was adamant that he wanted to
continue living with his foster parents sufficiently represented child's legal interests).

We now apply these considerations to the matter sub judice. Child was five years
old at the initial hearings, and six years old at the remand hearing. Child identified Step
Father as his father and called no one else “dad” or “daddy.” Counsel Report, supra.
Child did not appear to recall spending any time with Father, and, when asked if Child
knew anyone by Father’'s name, he recalled only a child his age with the same name.

When this case was remanded for a hearing over a year after the initial hearings, Attorney
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Rose determined that Child had no knowledge of Father. Additionally, she concluded
Child did not understand what was meant by an adoption. However, Child became upset
when told about the prospect of not living with Mother and Step Father, and clearly
indicated that he wanted to live with Mother and Step Father.

Significantly, Child did not know that Father was his biological father. This,
together with the fact that Child identified Step Father as his father, drove Attorney Rose’s
decision not to inform Child of the identity of his biological father, or the exact meaning of
the termination proceedings, or to expressly ask Child’s preference specifically regarding
termination. Attorney Rose believed that doing so would have caused Child confusion,
anxiety, and emotional trauma. Further, the orphans’ court determined that Child’'s
preferred outcome was for Step Father to fill the parental role, and explicitly found no
conflict in Attorney Rose representing both Child’s legal and best interests.

Under these circumstances, we find that Attorney Rose properly fulfilled her
obligation to ascertain Child’s preferred outcome of the termination proceedings to the
best of her professional ability. Child was only six years old, and, in counsel’s view, was
not mature enough to understand the concept of adoption proceedings, let alone an action
for parental termination. Given Child’s age, understanding, mental state, and emotional
capacity, Attorney Rose reasonably declined to explain to Child that he had a biological
father when Child was not aware that Father existed and had already bonded with Step
Father, viewing him as his father. During the last interview with Child, Child became
concerned as to what was going to happen to him when the purpose of the hearing and
the possible outcomes thereof were explained. Attorney Rose reasonably concluded that
explaining these facts to Child, as she was not a family member or otherwise in a close
personal relationship with Child, would have risked confusion, anxiety, and emotional

trauma, potentially resulting in lasting damage to Child’s well-being. Thus, we conclude
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that Attorney Rose’s decision to forego informing Child that Father was his biological
father and providing an overt explanation of the meaning of a termination proceeding did
not constitute a breach of her duty to discern Child’s preferred outcome. Furthermore,
we conclude that Attorney Rose properly determined that no conflict existed, as Child
described his desires, as best as he could in the situation, and did not provide any
information that suggested a conflict. In these circumstances, we find that the orphans’
court reasonably determined that Attorney Rose could act without conflict in this instance.

Finally, we note that the dissenters reasonably favor a different approach than we
announce today, one which is largely in alignment with Justice Bowes’ position advanced
in her dissent below: they would mandate, to one degree or another, that counsel provide
a child with the necessary facts — here, the six-year-old Child’s awareness of Father — to
allow the child to articulate a preference regarding the termination proceedings. See
Dissenting Opinion (Wecht, J.) at 6 (“Without knowing who Father is and without knowing
the consequences of the TPR, Child cannot adequately form a legal preference.”);
Dissenting Opinion (Donohue, J.) at 5 ("“What was relevant to Child’s understanding of
the proceeding was that there was another person who has an interest in being a part of
his life, and the outcome of the proceeding will prevent him from doing so.”).

Regarding Justice Wecht’'s dissent, we merely note our disagreement that our
decision today countenances that an orphans’ court should, or will, “defer blindly” to
counsel’s determinations. Dissenting Opinion (Wecht, J.) at 9. Rather, as noted above,
we believe an orphans’ court should accord “significant deference” regarding counsel’s
approach, including consideration of the child’s “physical, mental, and emotional well-

being.” See supra page 14. As we offered in In re: Adoption of K.M.G., supra, it is the
orphans’ court who, over the course of various proceedings, will be aware of the

relationship between the guardian ad litem, legal counsel, and the child. In re: Adoption
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of K.M.G., 240 A.3d at 1236 (citing In re: T.S.M., 71 A.3d at 267 (emphasizing that it is
the orphans’ court who will have first-hand observations of the child, parents, guardian,
and counsel)). As a result, we do not share the dissent’s fear that counsel will “shape, or
even distort, the information” on which a child will express his or her preference.
Dissenting Opinion (Wecht, J.) at 8.

In her dissent, Justice Donohue criticizes multiple aspects of our decision, and of
Attorney Rose’s representation. The dissent initially points to what she views as a dearth
of references to the record. Dissenting Opinion (Donohue, J.) at 1-2. Of course, the
Counsel Report, which is part of the record and cited above, formed the basis for Attorney
Rose’s decision-making, and speaks most directly to the legal question we answer today.
Related thereto, the dissent stresses Attorney Rose’s testimony and examination by
Father’s counsel, albeit for the largely undisputed notion that Attorney Rose did not inform
Child of the existence of Father, that her questioning focused principally on the Child’s
future living arrangements and adoption, and that she did not ask Child if he preferred
terminating his relationship with Father.

The dissent then, sua sponte, raises the issue of counsel’s responsibility to
consider the unsettled state of law regarding the Child’s relationship to Father’s mother,
and criticizes Attorney Rose for failing to consider this relationship. Id. at 4. Yet, Appellant
did not raise this question for our review. Continuing its disapproval of Attorney Rose’s
actions, the dissent characterizes her representation as “subpar,” id. at 2, and suggests,
inter alia, that she “misstated the consequences of the proceeding” and “refused to
provide accurate information,” ultimately reaching the troublesome conclusion that
counsel violated the Rules of Professional Conduct regarding communications with
clients. 1d. at 7 (citing Pa.R.P.C. 1.4(b)). These accusations of professional misconduct

are unwarranted. Attorney Rose is a long-time practitioner, whom the trial judge in this
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matter evidently respected. See N.T. 8/7/2019, at 23 (“In fact, | trust the guardian’s
opinion pretty highly, because | think her own heart strings, her own emotions go towards
some interest of the father’s.”). Furthermore, this appeal involves an issue of first
impression: the contours of counsel’s legal duty in these circumstances. If the contours
of legal representation are in flux, it is inappropriate in our view to hold counsel to a
precise standard of conduct. Related thereto, it was Attorney Rose’s belief and actions
(vindicated by the trial court, the Superior Court, and now our Court) that she was not
able, due to Child’s age and maturity, to provide relevant information regarding Child’s
Father, and, thus, explicitly explain the consequences of the proceedings. While the
dissent believes this to be unprofessional conduct, under the circumstances of this case,
we view it as unfair to level misconduct charges against Attorney Rose.

Ultimately, the dissent disagrees with the Court (and the lower tribunals) as to
whether counsel did enough in these unusual circumstances to determine the
preferences of Child. What the dissent refers to as a “varnished analysis,” Dissenting
Opinion (Donohue, J.) at 2, is, rather, our attempt to recognize the fact-intensive,
nebulous, and nuanced nature of these types of decisions; the deference to be given
counsel in these delicate circumstances, as well as to orphans’ court judges, who have a
front row seat to these proceedings; and the legitimate concern for a child’s physical,
mental, and emotional well-being revealed in counsel’s approach. Under these facts, we
find that Attorney Rose fulfilled her obligation to discern Child’s preference regarding
these proceedings.

For the above stated reasons, we affirm the order of the Superior Court, affirming
the termination of parental rights in this case.

Chief Justice Saylor and Justices Baer, Dougherty and Mundy join the opinion.

Justice Donohue files a dissenting opinion in which Justice Wecht joins.
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Justice Wecht files a dissenting opinion.
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| respectfully dissent. While | am in general agreement with Justice Wecht's
dissenting opinion, | write separately to highlight the record evidence of the legal
representation afforded to this child (“Child”) whose life will be forever impacted by this
proceeding terminating the parental rights of his biological father (“Father”).! Although
the Majority blesses the appointed guardian ad litem/legal counsel’s (“Counsel”)

representation of Child’s legal interest, the Majority never supports its conclusion with

1 My analysis of the issues is based on the record of the case on remand to the Orphans’
Court from the Superior Court where the sole issue was Counsel's determination of
whether Child’s legal and best interests were aligned or in conflict. See N.T., 8/7/2019,
at 1-25. The record on remand, detailing Counsel’s testimony, with ten pages of
interjection by the trial judge, runs for a total of only twenty-five pages including the
recitation into the record by the trial judge of Counsel’s summary of her twenty-minute
interview with the client on June 10, 2019. Child was one month shy of seven years old
at the time of Counsel’s consultation. Id. at 11.



citation to the record. The result of this varnished analysis is to elevate Counsel’s
unwillingness or inability to communicate information to her client over compliance with
her responsibilities under the Rules of Professional Conduct, thus enshrining subpar
representation as the norm for children in termination of parental rights proceedings.

It is beyond dispute that in the view of Counsel, her conclusion as to her client’s
preference as to the outcome of the termination proceedings, i.e., his legal interest,
hinged on his preferred living arrangement. On examination by Father’s attorney to probe
Counsel’s conclusion that she did not have a conflict representing both Child’s best
interests and legal interests, the following information was elicited:

Mr. Kelleher: ... [Counsel], do you think the child was able
to express his preferred outcome or do you
believe he was incapable of expressing that
with him not knowing what permanent
adoption even means?

Counsel: Well, | explained to him what adoption
meant, that his daddy, [Stepfather] would
become his daddy under the law. It would
not change his concern that he wouldn’t be
able to live with his mommy. | said, well, |
didn’t want to go too far with him because |
didn’t want him to think that something would
happen between his mommy and daddy and
he would lose them. So, | was trying to be
very cautious with him, but | said, if
something would happen between his
mommy and daddy that he would live with
one of them. So, he would always, he would
always have contact with the other | hoped,
anyways. Because he was concerned that
he would be taken from his mommy and
daddy.
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Mr. Kelleher: Do you believe that Child was able to
express his preferred outcome at the time of
the interview?

Counsel: Yes.

Mr. Kelleher: ... Do you agree that he understood what he
was trying to determine?

Counsel: | think Child understood that he wanted to
live with his mommy and daddy. And | asked
him several, numerous times during the
interview.  Obviously mommy wasn’t an
issue, but | asked him numerous time [sic]
during the interview who daddy was. And he
always said [Stepfather].

N.T., 8/7/2019, at 8-9.

As the record further establishes, counsel saw the termination proceeding as
creating a binary option for Child’s consideration, and one of the two options was one she
was unwilling to present to Child.

Mr. Kelleher: So preferred outcome only involved -- there
wasn’t two options would you agree with

that?
Counsel: Right, but I think, | think Judge Ling said it
extremely well, | don’t believe -- | was not

able to say to Child that [Father] is his
biological father and that’s and [sic] option. If
you want to live with your biological father
who is not [Stepfather], then that’s an option.
| don’t think | have the authority or the right
to say that to him because he, Child, did not
understand that. Like, Child did not
understand that [Stepfather] was not his
daddy.? ...

2 Earlier in her testimony, Counsel stated that Child never called Stepfather “Daddy” until
June 10, 2019 (the day of her interview with her client). According to Child, he always
called Stepfather by a shortened version of his first name before that date. N.T., 8/7/2019,
at 12. Child referred to Stepfather’s parents as “Mr. and Mrs. [H.]” Id. at 5 (After
identifying his maternal and paternal grandparents by affectionate names, “I questioned
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Id. at 16-17.

This record establishes that Child was given a fundamentally flawed view of the
outcome of the termination proceeding. If Father's parental rights were not terminated,
there was no basis to allow Child to fear that he could no longer live with Mother and her
husband, Stepfather, or that Stepfather would have to forego acting in a parental role as
he purportedly had been doing. Assuming that in the future the biological father sought
custody rights, another court would design the parameters taking into account Child’s
needs.

Moreover, while counsel was focused on the maintenance of the existing custodial
relationship between Child and his mother and stepfather, it is troubling that in articulating
his preferred outcome of the termination proceeding, Child’s known and articulated
preference for a relationship with his “Grammy” (Father’'s mother) was unprotected when
his preference for termination was placed on the record. My colleague, Justice Wecht, in
dissent, thoroughly articulates the unsettled state of the law on the effect of termination
of a parent’s rights on the grandparents whose interests flow from that parent. Wecht
Dissenting Op. at 2 n.1. Counsel had a responsibility to consider the state of the law and
its effect on Child’s preferred outcome of having a relationship with Father’s mother. The
sum total of her articulated consideration of Child’s preference and his sadness about not
seeing his Grammy: “[W]hat do | do with that information?” N.T., 8/7/2019, at 17.
Acknowledging that she could not tell Mother what to do, she concluded, “so is life fair?

No.” Id. at 18. Given Child’s known preference and that a potential outcome of the

him about his daddy’s parents and what he called them, his response was ‘Mr. and Mrs.

[H").
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termination was that Father’'s mother would not be able to have a relationship with him, it
is very difficult to support the view that Child’s preference was for the termination of
Father’s parental rights.

Because the record is silent on the actual information about the termination
proceeding that counsel gave to Child, we can only assume that the entirety of her
explanation was based on the impact the proceedings would have on his living
arrangements. This conclusion is based not only on her specific response to the
guestions regarding the basis for Child’s preferred outcome as previously described, but
also on her articulated view that conveying information to her client about the actual
purpose and outcome of the proceeding was not her responsibility. Counsel testified:

And when he [(Child)] told me that he didn’t know who
[Father] was, do | tell him, well -- | would have to explain to
him why [Father] wasn’t in his life and | don’t think | have any
right to say, well, because it would be my opinion from the
testimony, | guess. | would have to say, “Mommy kept Daddy

away from you.” And I'm not going to destroy these kids that
I’m guardian of. | don’t think that’'s my job. | really don'’t .

There are multiple levels of problems with this recitation. First, why Father is not
currently in Child’s life was not an overarching consideration. If relevant, there are ways
to explain the situation other than making Mother (or anyone else) the villain.® What was

relevant to Child’s understanding of the proceeding was that there is another person who

3 Counsel candidly testified that in her view, Mother kept Child away from his biological
father and that Mother was being rewarded for her conduct. N.T., 8/7/2019, at 12. She
believed that it was in Child’s best interest for Father’s rights to be terminated because
case law required Father to take steps to stop Mother’s obstruction and he failed to do
so. Id.
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has an interest in being a part of his life, and the outcome of the proceeding will prevent
him from doing so. Second, Counsel’s only attempt to describe this other person with an
interest in him was to ask Child if he remembered a “[Father's name]™ from visits with his
Grammy. (“Mr. Kelleher: Did you ask, did you do it without using a name? Was anybody
else that ever came over to Grammy’s house? Was there any guys there? Any males
there? Counsel: No.” N.T., 8/7/2019, at 19.) Itis entirely possible that Child remembered
the nice man who spent time with him at Grammy’s house. The limitations of Counsel’s
ability to communicate with Child left that avenue of inquiry untouched. From this record,
it is not possible to determine whether Child had a recollection, fond or otherwise, of his
biological father.

The Majority recognizes that in certain cases, an expert in child psychology will be
warranted to assist counsel in communicating with a child in a termination proceeding,
but concludes that this is not such a case. Given this record, to me, this is precisely a
case that warrants the assistance of an expert. Most concerning about the opinion of
Counsel was her view that the only way to describe the legal proceeding to Child in order
to elicit his preference was to do it in a way (“Mommy kept Daddy away from you”) that
would “destroy” him. Given her proposed delivery of the information, she was likely
correct in her assessment, but it was based on the faulty premise that this malignant
approach was the correct and only way to convey the information. As a result, Child was

given misinformation about the nature of the proceeding, because he was guided by

4 Mother insisted that as a condition of paternal grandmother’s continued contact with
Child, she could not allow him to refer to Father as dad. N.T., 8/7/2019, at 19.
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Counsel who believed it was not her job to explain it to him and because she was
incapable of devising an age appropriate way of conveying accurate information.

The Majority concludes that “under the unique circumstances of this case,” counsel
adequately discharged her responsibilities as legal counsel. Majority Op. at 17. In
summary, the Majority blesses the representation by an attorney representing a child in
a termination proceeding who misstated the consequences of the proceeding; who
refused to provide accurate information about the nature of the proceeding based on her
conclusion that the only way to do so is by blaming the child’s mother for the situation;
who apparently was unable or unwilling to probe the child’s knowledge of biological father
in any way other than to reference his given name; who failed to take into account the
child’s preference for a relationship with Father’s mother; and who failed to recognize that
the involvement of an expert in child counseling was warranted.®> With due respect to the
learned Majority, in my view, its conclusion is at odds with the Rules of Professional
Conduct governing lawyers in Pennsylvania. Regarding communications with clients by
an attorney, R.P.C. 1.4(b) provides:

Ordinarily, the information to be provided is that appropriate
for a client who is a comprehending and responsible adult.
However, fully informing the client according to this standard

may be impracticable, for example, where the client is a child
or suffers from diminished capacity. See Rule 1.14. ...

5 The record establishes that Child preferred to continue living with his mother and
stepfather. That tells us nothing about Child’s preference about the outcome of the
termination proceeding. If the record supported the view expressed by the Majority that
Child was, by way of age and emotional development, unable to comprehend the nature
of the proceedings and the factual circumstances surrounding it, see Majority Op. at 17,
the correct determination is that Child was unable to state a preference. His legal and
best interests coincided and counsel had no conflict. Compare In re Adoption of C.J.A.,
204 A.3d 497 (Pa. Super. 2019). This was not the conclusion reached by Child’s Counsel.
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In turn, Rule 1.14(a) provides:

When a client’'s capacity to make adequately considered
decisions in connection with a representation is diminished,
whether because of minority, mental impairment or for some
other reason, the lawyer shall, as far as reasonably possible,
maintain a normal client-lawyer relationship with the client.

Comment [1] to Rule 1.14 recognizes that in such cases, maintaining the ordinary
attorney-client relationship may not be possible in all respects. A client with diminished
capacity, a term that is used interchangeably with minority, often has the ability to
understand, deliberate upon and reach conclusions about matters affecting the client’s
own wellbeing. To illustrate, the comment specifically references that children “as young
as five or six and certainly those of ten or twelve” have opinions entitled to weight in
custody proceedings.

Finally, Comment [6] to Rule 1.14 gives guidance to lawyers in determining the
extent of the client’s diminished capacity (a term that encompasses minority):

... the lawyer should consider and balance such factors as:
the client’s ability to articulate reasoning leading to a decision,
variability of state of mind and ability to appreciate
consequences of a decision; the substantive fairness of a
decision; and the consistency of a decision with the known
long-term commitments and values of the client. In

appropriate circumstances, the lawyer may seek guidance
from an appropriate diagnostician.

The rules make clear that an attorney representing a child has the responsibility to
communicate information that is necessary to effectuate the representation. Here,
Counsel to Child had the obligation to give him the information necessary for him to
express his preference in the outcome of the proceeding that was brought to terminate
his biological father’s parental rights. The rules recognize that children are not the

equivalent of competent adults in their ability to comprehend and process information.
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Likewise, all children are not alike. Depending on age and mental development, some
may be more able to process information than others. In termination of parental rights
cases, it is incumbent on legal counsel to determine the extent of her client’s ability to
comprehend and process information. Rule 1.14 provides guidance on the types of
factors that need to be considered and balanced when counsel makes a determination
as to the child’s ability to make a decision — here, stating a preference as to the outcome
of the termination of parental rights proceeding. These factors are not, of course,
exclusive of other considerations that might give insight into a child’s ability to understand
and accept information.

Here, Child’s ability to comprehend and process the information required to state
a preference was never assessed. The determination that he could state a preference
was made by Counsel after she decided that she was not going to communicate relevant
information to him because he did not remember a man with Father’'s name and she had
no intention of otherwise explaining how the proceeding would affect him because of his
mother’s role in his biological father’s absence from his life. Conveying this information,
in the most brutal possible way, was not in Child’s best interests according to his legal
counsel. N.T., 8/7/2019, at 12-13. Ignoring for the moment that the choice of messaging
is the problem, this conflates the dual roles of her appointment. In fact, Counsel’s
determination of Child’s best interest was the basis for her decision to withhold relevant
information from him. Compare N.T., 8/7/2019, at 12, with N.T., 8/7/2019, at 8-9.

It is impossible from the record to discern whether Child had the maturity and
attendant ability to comprehend truthful information about his biological parentage and

the effect of the termination proceeding. Because Counsel’s ability to communicate
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information to the client was obviously limited, a skilled child counsellor should have been
engaged to assist in making the determination as to Child’s ability, first to comprehend
information and if so able, to state a preference. To me, it is not possible for this child to
have articulated a preference when he was not given the basic information he needed to
make a decision.

Counsel has an obligation to consider the information that needs to be conveyed
and how to convey it. Unless the determination is first made that a child does not have
the maturity and emotional capacity to entertain accurate information delivered in an age
appropriate manner, an attorney has no authority to withhold information from the client.
Rule 1.4, Comment [7] (Withholding Information) recognizes that a lawyer may be justified
in delaying transmission of information when the client would be “likely to react
imprudently to an immediate communication.” It does not authorize delaying transmission
of information in other circumstances. The rules do not allow withholding information
when no cogent attempt was made to convey the information so that any negative
consequence could be accurately assessed. Counsel to a child in a termination
proceeding can only withhold information if a child is determined to be incapable of
understanding the nature and consequences of the proceeding based on the child’s age
and emotional maturity. Essential to this determination is an attempt to provide accurate
information about the proceeding and its consequences. If the determination is made
that the child is incapable of comprehending the information, counsel is then free to
withhold the information and to determine that the child’s legal and best interests coincide.

In this case, Counsel concluded, before attempting to ascertain Child’s ability to

process accurate, non-inflammatory information about the termination of parental rights
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proceeding, that it was not in his best interests to receive the information necessary to
articulate his preference in the outcome. The record does not support a conclusion that
Child had the advice of counsel necessary to articulate a preference as to the outcome
of this proceeding. Moreover, given Counsel’s knowledge of Child’s preference for a
relationship with his paternal grandmother and the unsettled state of the law regarding
the impact of termination of Father’s rights on grandmother’s legal relationship with Child,
| conclude that Counsel’'s articulation of Child’s preference for termination of Father’'s
rights is contradicted by the record. | would remand to the Orphans’ Court to reconsider
the termination of Father’s parental rights in light of Child’s preference to maintain the
paternal familial relationship. But for this record evidence of Child’s preference, | would
remand to the Orphans’ Court for appointment of separate legal counsel to engage an
appropriate expert in child psychology or counseling if new counsel finds it necessary to
aid in determining Child’s ability to state a preference and otherwise assist in adequately
communicating the information necessary to do so.

Justice Wecht joins this dissenting opinion.
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In Section 2313 of the Adoption Act, the General Assembly of Pennsylvania
mandated that “[tjhe court shall appoint counsel to represent the child in an involuntary
termination proceeding when the proceeding is being contested by one or both of the
parents.” 23 Pa.C.S. § 2313(a). As the Majority recognizes, the General Assembly made
the policy decision “that children be given a voice in termination proceedings.” Maj. Op.
at 9. This Court has made it clear that the plain language of the statute demands “a
lawyer who represents the child’s legal interest and who is directed by the child.” In re:
Adoption of L.B.M., 161 A.3d 172, 180 (Pa. 2017). Because today’s Majority permits
something less than the client-directed counsel that the statute mandates, | respectfully
dissent.

The facts of this case are unusual. First, unlike most termination of parental rights
(“TPR”) cases, this case did not begin as a dependency proceeding. At the time that the

TPR petition was filed, the appointed attorney/guardian ad litem (“GAL”), Carol Ann Rose,



Esquire, did not have a long-standing relationship with P.G.F. (“Child”). In fact, Attorney
Rose had not interacted with Child at all before her dual appointment as counsel and
GAL. Second, no one contends that K.F. (“Father”) had a parental relationship with Child
when the TPR process began. Child did have a relationship with the paternal
grandmother, who had exercised some of Father's custody time. But it is clear that no
one informed Child about his relationship with Father or about how a TPR order would
affect that relationship.> Further, when the Superior Court remanded the case on Father’s
first appeal, it noted that Attorney Rose had neither articulated Child’s legal interests nor
stated that Child was developmentally unable to express his legal interests. Inre P.G.F.,
1464 WDA 2018, 2019 WL 1199986, at *3, *4 (Pa. Super. Mar. 12, 2019) (unpublished
memorandum).

Following the remand, the trial court re-affirmed the TPR order. Father again
appealed. This time, a majority of the Superior Court panel affirmed, holding that the

record supported the trial court’s determination that there was no conflict between Child’s

L The effect of the TPR on the parental grandmother’s custody is unsettled. This
Court has permitted grandparents to intervene “as any other individual or individuals who
seek to adopt a child” in an adoption proceeding after the biological parents’ consent to
adoption was accepted and their parental rights terminated. See In re Adoption of Hess,
608 A.2d 10, 15 (Pa. 1992). However, the Court has not directly addressed the extent to
which a grandparent as to whose grandchild parental rights were terminated may
continue to seek or exercise custody rights, nor has the Superior Court conclusively ruled
upon the issue. Compare Rigler v. Treen, 660 A.2d 111, 113 (Pa. Super. 1995) (citing
the statute then-equivalent to 23 Pa.C.S. § 5326 that terminates a grandparent’s rights to
seek custody when a grandchild is adopted except when the adoption is by a stepparent
or grandparent and holding that “[s]ince the grandparents’ rights survive such an
adoption, it follows that the termination of the biological parent’s rights alone does not cut
off the visitation rights of the biological grandparents.”) with In re M.A.H., 2019 WL
1057357, at *7 (Pa. Super. Mar. 5, 2019) (unpublished memorandum) (holding that
Section 5326 does not preserve a grandparent’s “legal status as a consanguineous
relation following the entry of an adoption decree” and “[a]t most, § 5326 conveys . . . the
ability to seek standing to pursue a custody claim.”). In this case, Mother testified that
she would continue to permit the paternal grandmother to see Child even if Father’s
parental rights were terminated. Notes of Testimony (“N.T.”), 7/31/2018, at 43-44.
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best and legal interests such that Attorney Rose’s dual appointment was permissible and
that Attorney Rose adequately had represented Child’s interests despite withholding
information from Child. In re P.G.F, 2020 WL 579038, at *4 (Pa. Super. Jan. 27, 2020)
(unpublished memorandum).

Judge Bowes dissented. In her view, Attorney Rose had not fulfilled her duty to
represent Child’s legal interests. Id. at *6-*10. Attorney Rose’s discussion with Child
centered upon Child’s preferences for physical custody, which Judge Bowes observed
was irrelevant to the issue of TPR and adoption, particularly inasmuch as T.G.H.’s
(“Mother”) continuing custody of Child was not at issue.? Id. at *7. Judge Bowes also
noted that the record indicated Child’s awareness of Father, which developed during
Child’s time with the paternal grandmother. Id. at *8. At the TPR hearing, Mother’s
testimony established that Child recognized Father as a friend of paternal grandmother
and that Child referred to Father by his first name.® Therefore, while Child did not
accurately understand his biological relationship to Father, the conclusion that Child did
not know Father was not fully supported by the record. Id. at *7-*8.

Judge Bowes also opined that the record demonstrated that Child was able to
express his legal interests. 1d. at *8-*9. Thus, when she failed to provide Child with the

information necessary to make an informed decision, Attorney Rose failed to comply with

2 See Letter from Attorney Rose, 6/11/2019 at 1-2 (unpaginated). Attorney Rose
reported that she spoke with Child for twenty minutes, that he was one-month shy of his
seventh birthday at the time, that the name Child associated with “daddy” was the
stepfather’s name, that he wanted to live with Mother and the stepfather, that he did not
know anyone with Father's name, and that he wanted to be adopted yet did not know
what adoption meant.

3 See N.T., 7/31/2018, at 26 (Mother testifying that, when Child would return from
the paternal grandmother’s house, Mother would ask who was there and Child would
sometimes include Father’s first name in the list of people); see also id. at 31-32 (Mother
testifying that Child refers to Father by Father’s first name and that Child believed Father
to be his paternal grandmother’s friend).
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the statutory mandate to represent Child’s legal interests. Id. at *10. Judge Bowes stated
that, “it is [A]ttorney Rose’s principal obligation as legal counsel to ascertain [Child’s] legal
interest and promote it. Thus, at a minimum, she must provide [Child] with the necessary
facts to enable him to articulate any preference he has about the outcome of the
termination proceedings.” Id. at *9. Despite the difficulty inherent in informing Child of
the reality of his family situation, Judge Bowes concluded that the statutory mandate
rendered this task necessary and that Attorney Rose had both the authority and the
obligation to do so in ascertaining and advancing Child’s legal interests. Id. at *10.

The Majority chooses to embrace the Superior Court majority’s view. From our
recent decision in In re Adoption of K.M.G., 240 A.3d 1218 (Pa. 2020), the Majority gleans
that a child’s attorney/GAL “must, at a minimum, attempt to ascertain the child’'s
preference and advocate on the child’s behalf.” Maj. Op. at 13. However, because
children necessarily possess varying levels of ability to understand and communicate,
“ascertaining a child’s preferred outcome may involve various circumstance-appropriate
strategies.” Id. Because Child was unaware of his family situation, and because he “could
be emotionally harmed if informed of such facts or closely interrogated regarding his
preference,” the Majority concludes that Attorney Rose was required to use “caution and
reflection” and that courts should afford “significant deference . . . to counsel’s approach
in discerning a child’s preference and the child’s articulation thereof.” Id. at 14.

The Majority finds the Superior Court’s decision in In re: Adoption of C.J.A., 204
A.3d 497 (Pa. Super. 2019), to be consistent with this approach. Id. at 15. In that case,
a child did not know his biological father. Inre: C.J.A., 204 A.3d at 502. For that reason,
the appointed attorney stated that she was unable to explain the effect of the TPR to the

child. The Superior Court held that the attorney had fulfilled the requirements of Section
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2313 under the circumstances and that she had discharged her duty of representing the
child’s legal interests in light of the child’s age, maturity, and emotional condition.

But C.J.A. is distinguishable on two important points. First, the attorney in C.J.A.
reported to the court that she could not ascertain the child’s preferred outcome given the
child’s age and development.* Here, Attorney Rose made no such claim. Instead,
despite Child’s unawareness of the true nature of the proceedings, Attorney Rose
informed the court of what she perceived to be Child’s legal interest. Second, in C.J.A.,
the trial court did not terminate the father’s parental rights. 1d. at 498. Therefore, even if
the child was incapable of processing the information about who the father was at the
time of the TPR hearing, further litigation was contemplated because the father had filed
for custody before the TPR was filed. 1d. at 499. Thus, even if the attorney and the trial
court were wrong about the child’s ability to understand the situation, the child would likely
have an opportunity to express his wishes at a later date. Stated otherwise, the parental
relationship was not permanently ended with the child being permanently deprived of the
opportunity to express a preferred outcome.

My views align substantially with those advanced by Judge Bowes in her
persuasive dissent. No one disputes that Attorney Rose was put in a difficult position
when Child’s family chose not to tell him the truth about his family situation. But the
evidence that Attorney Rose chose to present regarding Child’s legal interest largely was

irrelevant to the issue of the TPR and adoption. While a child’s preference about custody

4 See In re C.J.A,, 204 A.3d at 502 (quoting the attorney’s brief to the court
explaining that “[D]ue to the age and maturity of [Child] along with the fact that he did not
know [Father] was his biological father, the undersigned, as legal counsel, was unable to
explain the termination of parental rights proceeding and/or discuss the potential adoption
by [Fiancé]. . .. As a result, the undersigned was unable to set forth a position on the
record since the undersigned was only appointed as legal counsel and not as a [GAL]
and it could not be sufficiently ascertained as to what [Child’s] position would be regarding
the termination of parental rights.”).
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could be relevant to TPR (particularly if the child wants to live with the parent whose rights
are subject to termination), that will not always be the case. The question that TPR
proceedings ask is whether the child will have any ongoing connection with the parent
and the parent’s extended family. That is usually unrelated to where the child wants to
live. This is particularly true here insofar as Father has not sought custody.

| do not suggest that a child in a similar situation would always have to be told the
entire unvarnished truth or that the appointed attorney must be the one to inform the child.
But the gravity of terminating a child’s relationship with a parent and with that parent’s
family is difficult to overstate. Our General Assembly has determined that a child whose
interests are caught up in such an unfortunate proceeding must have a voice in that
process through client-directed counsel.®> Without knowing who Father is and without
knowing the consequences of the TPR, Child cannot adequately form a legal preference.
Nor is this issue an abstract one. For example, Child here has a relationship with his
paternal grandmother, and he may strongly favor her continuing to exercise custody rights
that might be challenged post-TPR.® Attorney Rose, upon learning such a fact, in turn
would have an obligation to translate this preference into a reason why Child might
oppose termination. A child may not wish to live with a parent who is subject to a TPR
petition, but may not wish to cut off all avenues of contact forever. A child may decide

that, if an absentee parent did not make the effort to participate in the child’s life, the child

5 In re L.B.M., 161 A.3d at 180 (“[W]hen a child’s relationship with his or her birth
family could be severed permanently and against the wishes of the parents, the
legislature made the policy judgment, as is evidenced from the plain, unambiguous
language of the statute, that a lawyer who represents the child’s legal interests, and who
is directed by the child, is a necessity.”).

6 For example, at the remand hearing, Attorney Rose reported that Mother had
severely curtailed the paternal grandmother’s custody, which had upset Child. N.T.,
8/7/2019, at 17-18.
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wishes to have parental rights terminated in order to facilitate adoption by a step-parent
who is in fact present. But, in this case, we will never know Child’s preference. Even
though Attorney Rose deemed Child to be capable of expressing his own legal interest,’
she did not give Child the facts necessary to make an informed assessment of his
situation, an assessment that could have been aided by the adult assistance of Attorney
Rose and perhaps others. To permit an attorney to withhold vital information from a child
in a contested TPR defeats and destroys that child’s voice and role in the process. And
it utterly confounds the General Assembly’s clear intention.

While we would not countenance an attorney withholding critical information from
a client in other settings,® | acknowledge that children are different. It may not be
appropriate to inform a child of potentially damaging information in all cases. However,
legal counsel for children should be encouraged to begin from a presumption of
transparency, departing only when extraordinary circumstances strongly militate for
abandonment of that presumption. The simple fact is that the child’s counsel cannot
discharge his or her duty to zealously represent the child’s legal interest if the child lacks
the information necessary to make informed decisions about his or her own interests.

If a child’s attorney discovers that the child is without information that would be
vital to forming a preference, the attorney first must assess whether it is possible to
provide that child with a fuller account without harming the child’s emotional and mental

well-being. Some cases will be easy. Atwo-year-old clearly does not need to be informed

! N.T., 8/7/2019, at 13 (Attorney Rose testifying that Child “was able to express” his
preferred outcome).

8 Pennsylvania Rule of Professional Conduct 1.4(b) requires that a “lawyer shall
explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed
decisions regarding the representation,” but recognizes that particular circumstance may
justify “delaying transmission of information.” Id. cmt (“Withholding Information”).
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that there is another father of whom the child is not aware, while a fourteen-year-old, in
most cases, would be able to understand and process that information.® At a minimum,
the attorney should inform the court that the child lacks important information and should
explain whether or not (and why) the attorney intends to share that information with the
child so that the court has the proper context within which to assess counsel’s and the
child’s representations of the child’s preference. When uncertain whether or how to
inform the child, the attorney should seek a court-appointed evaluator to determine
whether the child is capable of learning and processing the information in a
developmentally appropriate manner. If the evaluator determines that the information
would be too damaging, then the court can choose to treat the child as one unable to
express a preferred outcome, while the attorney can proceed with whatever information
he or she can glean about the child’s legal interest directly. If the evaluator determines
that the child is developmentally capable of learning the information, the evaluator can
provide guidance on how best to proceed.

The Majority’s decision to defer more or less categorically to the attorney’s
determination about when information should be withheld from the child client undermines
the very nature of the statutorily mandated representation. Today’s disposition allows
counsel to shape, or even distort, the information with which the child must determine the
very preference that it is counsel’s duty to advance. The General Assembly has provided

a child in a contested TPR with the right to an attorney. The rendering of informed advice

9 Amici note that “many advocates consider that children as young as seven can
appropriately and responsibly maintain a traditional attorney-client relationship and will
benefit from one.” Brief of Juvenile Law Center, Community Legal Services Inc., and 16
National, State, and Local Organizations and Individuals Who Are Experts in the Fields
of Child Welfare, Public Policy, and Law at 5. Our Court has endorsed the view that a
child as young as five or six may be able to express “opinions which are entitled to weight
in legal proceedings concerning their custody.” Inre T.S., 192 A.3d 1080, 1089 n.17 (Pa.
2018).
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and the pursuit of vigorous advocacy lie at the heart of the attorney-client relationship, the
nature of which should not fundamentally change with a client of tender years. And to
protect a child who has little or no ability to look after his or her own legal rights,1° a court
also must have the information required to be satisfied that the child’s attorney does not
suffer from any conflicts and has informed the child of all necessary information to make
informed choices.

It bears repeating that counsel has an obligation to keep a child-client as informed
as is practicable in order to ensure an accurate assessment of the child’s preferences.
That is not to say that counsel should simply provide information to a young child without
regard for the risk of psychological injury or confusion. To the contrary, it equally is
counsel’s duty to address gaps in the child’s relevant knowledge with care and to enlist
specialists and caregivers as circumstances require. | differ with the Majority inasmuch
as | do not believe that courts should defer blindly to counsel’'s determinations, but,
instead, must play a role in ensuring that counsel has fulfilled his or her statutory and
ethical duties. As | have said before, whatever challenges such a demanding protocol
presents pale in comparison to the enormous and permanent consequences of

terminating parental rights:

| recognize that courts in all contexts must depend upon the good faith and
integrity of counsel. But where the potential injury is so grave and so
thoroughly irreversible, and where the child whose best interests are
paramount is so vulnerable, courts should do everything in their power to
maximize the likelihood of a fair and just result.

10 See In re. T.S., 192 A.3d at 1087 (“The statutory right under Section 2313(a)
belongs to the child, not the parent. Accord Inre E.F.H., 751 A.2d 1186, 1189 (Pa. Super.
2000). There was no attorney representing solely the children’s legal interests who could
have raised their rights in the trial court, and the children plainly could not have done so
themselves.”).
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Inre: KM.G., 240 A.3d at 1253 (Wecht, J., concurring and dissenting). Our courts must
exercise their duty to prioritize the child’s best interests by ensuring that the child’s
attorney is discharging his or her duty to the child.

To be sure, involving an evaluator in the process will require time and resources,
and could delay permanency for a child. But while permanency is an important
consideration, so is the child’s voice in this critical process. Our General Assembly made
this clear when it enacted Section 2313. The child’s voice and human agency should not

be sacrificed willy-nilly on the altar of a speedy process.
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